FILED 07-23-2024 **CLERK OF WISCONSIN** SUPREME COURT

In the Supreme Court of Wisconsin

No. 2024AP729-OA

JEFFERY A. LEMIEUX and DAVID T. DEVALK,

Petitioners,

v.

TONY EVERS, Governor of Wisconsin, SARAH GODLEWSKI, Secretary of State of Wisconsin, and JILL UNDERLY, Wisconsin State Superintendent of Public Instruction,

Respondents.

PETITIONERS' OPENING BRIEF

Scott E. Rosenow Wis. Bar No. 1083736 Nathan J. Kane Wis. Bar No. 1119329 WMC Litigation Center 501 East Washington Avenue Madison, Wisconsin 53703 (608) 661-6918 srosenow@wmc.org nkane@wmc.org

Attorneys for Petitioners Jeffery A. LeMieux and David T. DeValk

Filed 07-23-2024

INTRODUCTION

This case seeks to enforce the will of Wisconsin voters and the constitutional limits on the governor's partial-veto power.

The facts are simple. In the 2023–2025 biennium budget bill, the Wisconsin Legislature approved a two-year increase of the school-district revenue limit. Under the guise of a partial veto, however, Governor Tony Evers added 400 years to that two-year increase. As passed by the legislature, this revenue-limit increase would have lasted through the "2024–25" school year. But wielding his pen, the Governor struck the "20" and the dash in the phrase "2024–25," making the increase last through the year 2425, four centuries beyond the year the legislature drafted and approved.

Known as Item Veto A-1, this veto authorizes school districts to increase their property taxes for 402 years without voters' approval via referendum. If left intact, this veto will result in "the highest single-year increase in revenue limits in state history."1

This veto "is clearly not the right way" to increase school funding,² and it has been the butt of jokes on a national stage.3 Despite being "amusing," this veto "is no way to run a railroad, let alone a state."4

This veto is also unconstitutional—for two independent reasons. First, Wisconsin's governor may approve an appropriation bill "in part,"

¹ Jessie Opoien, Business Group Challenges Evers' Creative Veto that Extended School Aid for 400 Years," MILWAUKEE JOURNAL SENTINEL, https://www.jsonline.com/story/news/politics/2024/04/15/wmc-challenges-everspartial-veto-that-extended-school-aid-400-years/73329834007/.

² Phil Hands, "Hands on Wisconsin: Gov. Tony Evers' Veto Pen Is Dangerous the Wrong Hands," WISCONSIN STATE JOURNAL, April https://madison.com/opinion/cartoon/phil-hands-cartoon-evers-veto-dangerouspen/ article be651508-fc36-11ee-b065-f7aef0185558.html.

³ See, e.g., Christopher Kuhagen, Ken Jennings Jokes He Wants to Become Wisconsin's Governor After Seeing What Tony Evers Did with His Veto Pen in State Budget, MILWAUKEE JOURNAL SENTINEL, July 6, 2023, https://www.jsonline.com/sto ry/news/politics/2023/07/05/ken-jennings-reacts-to-wisconsin-governor-tony-eversusing-partial-veto-2425/70385455007/.

⁴ Sam Kraemer, "Lawsuit Asks WI Supreme Court to Strike Down Ever's [sic] 400-Year Veto," FOX6 MILWAUKEE, April 15, 2024 (quoting University of Wisconsin-Madison Professor Emeritus Howard Schweber), https://www.fox6now.com/news/ 400-year-veto-lawsuit-wisconsin-supreme-court-evers.

but Governor Evers's 402-year increase of the school-district revenue limit is not "part" of the legislatively approved two-year increase. Second, in 1990, Wisconsin voters amended our state constitution to prohibit the so-called "Vanna White" or "pick-a-letter" veto. Item Veto A-1 is a Vanna White veto.

This Court should declare Item Veto A-1 invalid on either or both grounds.

ISSUES PRESENTED

1. Does a governor exceed his or her partial-veto authority under Article V, § 10(1)(b) of the Wisconsin Constitution by deleting text in an enrolled bill to create a longer duration than the one that the legislature approved?

This Court should answer "yes."

2. Does Article V, § 10(1)(c) of the Wisconsin Constitution forbid a governor from deleting digits in an enrolled bill to create a new year?

This Court should answer "yes."

STATEMENT ON ORAL ARGUMENT AND PUBLICATION

Petitioners request oral argument and publication.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

I. After governors began using the partial veto in novel ways, Wisconsin voters reined in this power.

In 1930, voters amended the Wisconsin Constitution to authorize "a governor to approve appropriation bills in whole or in part." Risser v. Klauser, 207 Wis. 2d 176, 182, 558 N.W.2d 108 (1997) (quoting Wis. Const. art. V, § 10(1)(b)).

Since the 1970s, governors have increasingly used the partial veto to alter bills in creative ways contrary to the legislature's intent. Wisconsin voters amended the constitution in 1990 to eliminate one of the most egregious misuses of that power.

A. Governor Lucey invents the "digit veto" and the "editing veto" in the 1970s.

"Use of the partial veto was minimal up until the early 1970's when it became a more popular tool to craft policy." Citizens Util. Bd. (C.U.B.) v. Klauser, 194 Wis. 2d 484, 491–92, 534 N.W.2d 608 (1995) (footnote omitted). Two new types of partial vetoes came about in the 1970s: the digit veto and the editing veto.

"[I]n 1971, Governor Patrick J. Lucey was the first governor to use the partial veto to remove a single digit from an appropriation—thereby inventing the 'digit veto." Id. at 492. In a budget bill, Governor Lucey "reduced a \$25 million highway bonding authorization to \$5 million by striking the digit '2." Richard A. Champagne et al., Legislative Reference Bureau, The Wisconsin Governor's Partial Veto, Reading the Constitution (June 2019), at 15.5

Four years later, Governor Lucey invented the "editing veto" by striking "not' in the phrase 'not less than 50%," turning a 50% floor into a 50% ceiling. *Id*.

B. Governor Earl invents the "pick-a-letter" or "Vanna White" veto in 1983.

About a decade later, "in 1983, Governor Anthony S. Earl invented another version of the partial veto—the 'pick-a-letter veto' (the selective vetoing of letters to form a new word, or of digits to form a new number)." C.U.B., 194 Wis. 2d at 492. "The pick-a-letter veto is also commonly called the 'Vanna White veto,' in reference to the co-host of television's 'Wheel of Fortune' game show." Benjamin W. Proctor, Comment, Wisconsin's Chief Legislator: The Governor's Partial Veto Authority and the New Tipping Point, 90 Marg. L. Rev. 739, 745 n.48 (2007). On that show, contestants pick letters and then Vanna White "flips letters to reveal word phrases." Champagne, supra, at 15.

⁵ https://docs.legis.wisconsin.gov/misc/lrb/reading_the_constitution/reading_t he constitution 4 1.pdf. This brief subsequently refers to the Legislative Reference Bureau as "LRB."

C. By a 4-3 vote, this Court upholds the digit veto and the Vanna White veto in 1988, sparking a backlash.

This Court upheld the Vanna White veto and the digit veto in *State* ex rel. Wisconsin Senate v. Thompson, 144 Wis. 2d 429, 424 N.W.2d 385 (1988). See C.U.B., 194 Wis. 2d at 498–99 (discussing Wisconsin Senate). Addressing the Vanna White veto, this Court held that a governor may "veto individual ... letters and digits." Wisconsin Senate, 144 Wis. 2d at 437. Regarding the digit veto, this Court held that a governor "also may reduce appropriations by striking digits." *Id*.

Three justices—William Bablitch, Shirley Abrahamson, and Donald Steinmetz—concurred in part and dissented in part. They agreed with the Court that a governor may veto "individual digits to effect a reduction in an appropriation." Id. at 474 (Bablitch, J., concurring and dissenting in part). This Court was therefore unanimous in upholding the digit veto. They disagreed, however, with the portion of the Court's decision upholding the Vanna White veto. They argued the Vanna White veto "is an invitation to terrible abuse." Id. at 466-67. They further argued that "it is a usurpation of the legislature's power to legislate and a violation of the doctrine of separation of powers between the coordinate branches of government to permit the executive branch to create new words and, in effect, new law through the selective excision of individual letters." Id. at 471.

This Court's decision in *Wisconsin Senate* was widely criticized. "Many observers, especially Democrats, agreed that the sweeping partial veto authority created problems that needed to be addressed somehow, even with a 'stopgap' constitutional amendment." Mary E. Burke, The Wisconsin Partial Veto: Past, Present and Future, 1989 Wis. L. Rev. 1395, 1426 (1989). "Some Republicans, however, also believed that the governor enjoyed too much partial veto power." Id. at 1426 n.243. Some Democratic lawmakers even described this sweeping power as

"dictatorial" and "analogiz[ed] the governor of Wisconsin to the kings of England."7

D. Voters amend the constitution to abrogate Wisconsin Senate and forbid the Vanna White veto in 1990.

The legislature swiftly responded to Wisconsin Senate. "Fewer than three weeks after [this Court decided the case], the legislature, with both houses controlled by the Democrats, held a one-day extraordinary session to adopt" a resolution proposing a constitutional amendment to abrogate the Wisconsin Senate decision. Champagne, supra, at 16; S.J.R. 71, 1987–88 Wis. Legis. (1988).

"The amendment passed by wide margins in both the Senate and the Assembly." Burke, supra, at 1397; see also 1 Bulletin of the Proceedings of the Wisconsin Legislature, 1987–88 Sess. 181 (1988). After the legislature passed the amendment by a wide margin on second consideration, more than 60 percent of Wisconsin voters approved it in an April 1990 referendum. *Burke*, *supra*, at 1397 & n.19, 1425–1426 & nn.241-242. This amendment added language to the constitution prohibiting "the governor from 'creat[ing] a new word by rejecting individual letters in the words of the enrolled bill." C.U.B., 194 Wis. 2d at 501 (quoting Wis. Const. art. V, § 10(1)(c)).8 This "referendum was cast in partisan terms,"9 "but Democrats declined to call it a partisan victory."10

This constitutional amendment "officially eliminat[ed] the Vanna White veto." Champagne, *supra*, at 16. As noted above, this type of veto

⁶ Associated Press, Thompson's Veto Powers Challenged, WISCONSIN STATE JOURNAL, March 27, 1990, at 2B.

⁷ Risser v. Thompson, 930 F.2d 549, 552 (7th Cir. 1991).

⁸ The word "enroll" here is a term of art: "After a bill passes both houses in the same form, the LRB enrolls the bill by incorporating into the bill's text all amendments adopted by both houses and any corrections." LRB, Wisconsin Bill Drafting Manual, 2023–24 App. F § (7).

⁹ Joe Beck, Referendum on Veto Heads Toward Passage, WISCONSIN STATE JOURNAL, April 4, 1990, at 3A.

¹⁰ Matt Pommer, Governor Loses Letter Veto Power, THE CAPITAL TIMES, April 4, 1990, at 5A.

involves "the selective vetoing of letters to form a new word, or of digits to form a new number." C.U.B., 194 Wis. 2d at 492 (emphasis added).

E. In 2017, Governor Walker revives the Vanna White veto, using it to strike individual digits in dates.

In Wisconsin's 2017–19 biennial budget bill, the legislature created two moratoriums. The first related to an "existing law that enabled school districts to increase their revenue limits by adopting a resolution based on energy efficiency efforts." Wisconsin Small Businesses United, Inc. (WSBU) v. Brennan, 2020 WI 69, ¶7, 393 Wis. 2d 308, 946 N.W.2d 101. Under the legislatively approved text of the budget bill, this incentive was paused only until "December 31, 2018." Id. Governor Scott Walker, however, used his pen to turn "December 31, 2018" into "December 3018." *Id.* That veto thus stripped school districts of this revenue-raising tool—and ended this financial incentive for energy efficiency—for 1,001 years. Id.

The second moratorium tolled the implementation of a policy allowing third-party lenders to "take tax deductions for bad debts." *Id*. ¶8. The legislature intended to pause this policy for one more year, through "July 1, 2017" (the legislature crossed out "2017" from an old moratorium and wrote in "2018" to create a new one). Id. But Governor Walker revised it to read "July 1, 2017 2018," extending the pause until "July 1, 2078." Id. That veto therefore turned a one-year moratorium into a 61-year moratorium. *Id*.

Four months after the 2017–19 biennium expired, WSBU filed a petition for an original action challenging the constitutionality of those two vetoes. Id. ¶1. Although this Court granted WSBU's petition, it did not reach the merits of those vetoes. It instead concluded the challenge was "barred by the equitable doctrine of laches" because WSBU had filed its petition "too late." Id.

- II. In 2023, Governor Evers uses a Vanna White veto to allow school districts to raise their property taxes for 400 years without voter approval.
 - A. State law generally forbids school districts from increasing property taxes without voter approval.

"One source of school funding is the property tax." Vincent v. Voight, 2000 WI 93, ¶5, 236 Wis. 2d 588, 614 N.W.2d 388. Each school district may impose its own property tax to fund the schools within it. *Id*.

To relieve taxpayers, Wisconsin law limits the amount a school district can levy each year. Id. ¶76. Revenue limits have long been imposed in Wisconsin. The 1993–95 budget first "imposed revenue limits" on school districts" for a five-year period. Legislative Fiscal Bureau, "School District Revenue Limits and Referenda," at 1 (Jan. 2023). 11 Once that period ended, those limits "were modified and made permanent." *Id.* Since then, the legislature has maintained these limits, though it has periodically modified them to reflect the cost of education. For the 2019– 20 school year, for example, the legislature increased "the levy limit by \$175 per pupil." See Wis. Stat. § 121.91(2m)(im). 12

The legislature has authorized school districts to exceed their revenue limits by holding a referendum. See Wis. Stat. § 121.91(3)(a)1. So in effect, "[r]evenue limits do not absolutely bar school districts from increas[ing] spending—they merely require a voter referendum to do so." *Vincent*, 2000 WI 93, ¶76.

B. By striking two digits and a dash, Governor Evers lengthens a two-year increase of the school-district revenue limit by 400 years.

On June 28, 2023, the Wisconsin Senate passed 2023 Senate Bill 70, the budget bill for the 2023–2025 biennium (Budget Bill). State of Wis. Senate J., June 28, 2023, at 330.13 The next day, the Wisconsin Assembly passed the Budget Bill. State of Wis. Assembly J., June 29,

¹¹ https://docs.legis.wisconsin.gov/misc/lfb/informational papers/january 2023 /0027_school_district_revenue_limits_and_referenda_informational_paper_27.pdf.

¹² This brief cites the 2021–22 Wisconsin Statutes, unless otherwise noted.

¹³ https://docs.legis.wisconsin.gov/2023/related/journals/senate/20230628.pdf.

<u>df</u>.

2023, at 229.14 On June 30, it was presented to Governor Evers. State of Wis. Senate J., June 30, 2023, at 335.15

As passed by the legislature, the Budget Bill would have allowed school districts to exceed their revenue limit by \$325 per student for two school years only, thus reserving to future legislatures (or to voters) the discretion to extend this permission. Legislative Fiscal Bureau, Partial Vetoes of 2023 Wisconsin Act 19 (July 7, 2023), at 1 (Item A-1). 16

Despite that deliberate reservation, Governor Evers unilaterally extended the Budget Bill's revenue-limit increase by 400 years. To achieve this end, "[t]he Governor's partial veto modified the language of the per pupil adjustment that set the \$325 amount in the 2023-24 school year and the 2024–25 school year' by deleting words and digits to instead set the \$325 amount 'in 2023-2425." Id. Specifically, the Governor altered four appearances of the phrase "2024-25" to read "2425" by striking the "20" and the dash. These vetoes are collectively known as Item Veto A-1. *Id*.

The table below quotes the four relevant sections of the Budget Bill. The left column displays the legislature's language, with Item Veto A-1 in strikethrough font. The right column shows the Budget Bill's text with Item Veto A-1 incorporated.

Item Veto A-1	Published Form
SECTION 402. 121.905 (3) (c) 9. of the statutes is created to read: 121.905 (3) (c) 9. For the limit for the 2023–24 school year and the 2024–25 school year, add \$325 to the result under par. (b).	SECTION 402. 121.905 (3) (c) 9. of the statutes is created to read: 121.905 (3) (c) 9. For the limit for 2023–2425, add \$325 to the result under par. (b).
SECTION 403. 121.91 (2m) (j) (intro.) of the statutes is amended to read:	SECTION 403. 121.91 (2m) (j) (intro.) of the statutes is amended to read:

¹⁴ https://docs.legis.wisconsin.gov/2023/related/journals/assembly/20230629.p

Page 16 of 42

https://docs.legis.wisconsin.gov/2023/related/journals/senate/20230630.pdf. 16 https://docs.legis.wisconsin.gov/misc/lfb/budget/2023 25 biennial budget/2 95 summary of partial vetoes of 2023 wisconsin act 19 7 7 23.

121.91 (2m)(j) (intro.) Notwithstanding par. (i) and except as provided in subs. (3), (4), and (8), a school district cannot increase its revenues for the 2020–21 school year, the 2023–24 school year , and the 2024=25 school year to an amount that exceeds the amount calculated as follows:

SECTION 404. 121.91 (2m) (j) 2m. of the statutes is created to read: 121.91 (2m) (j) 2m. In the 2023-24 school year and the 2024=25 school year, add \$146.

• • •

Case 2024AP000729

SECTION 408. 121.91 (2m) (t) 1. (intro.) of the statutes is amended to read:

121.91 (**2m**) (t) 1. (intro.) If 2 or more school districts are consolidated under s. 117.08 or 117.09, in the 2019–20 school year, the consolidated school district's revenue limit shall be determined as provided under par. (im), in the 2020–21 school year, 2023–24 school year, or 2024–25 school year, the consolidated school district's revenue limit shall be determined as provided under par. (j), and in each school year thereafter, the consolidated school district's revenue limit shall be determined as provided under par. (i), except as follows:

121.91 (2m) (j) (intro.) Notwithstanding par. (i) and except as provided in subs. (3), (4), and (8), a school district cannot increase its revenues for the 2020–21 school year–year 2425 to an amount that exceeds the amount calculated as follows:

SECTION 404. 121.91 (2m) (j) 2m. of the statutes is created to read: 121.91 (2m) (j) 2m. In 2023–2425, add \$146....

SECTION 408. 121.91 (2m) (t) 1. (intro.) of the statutes is amended to read:

121.91 (**2m**) (t) 1. (intro.) If 2 or more school districts consolidated under s. 117.08 or 117.09, in the 2019–20 school vear. the consolidated school district's revenue limit shall be determined as provided under par. (im), in the 2020–21 school year, 2023-year 2425, the consolidated school district's revenue limit shall be determined as provided under par. (j), and in each school year thereafter, the consolidated school district's revenue limit shall be determined as provided under par. (i), except as follows:

Filed 07-23-2024

2023 Wisconsin Act 19, at 158–159, §§ 402–04, 408.¹⁷

Along with this veto, Governor Evers issued a message declaring he was "requesting the Department of Public Instruction provide and account for this per pupil revenue limit adjustment authority of \$179 plus \$146 for a total of \$325 in each year from 2023–24 until 2425." 2023 Wisconsin Act 19: Veto Message, at 1.18

One day later, the Budget Bill with Governor Evers's vetoes was published as 2023 Wisconsin Act 19. State of Wis. Senate J., July 5, 2023, at 347.¹⁹

More than two months after publication, the senate voted in favor of overriding Item Veto A-1. State of Wis. Senate J., Sept. 14, 2023, at 440.²⁰ That same day, the senate requested the assembly also hold a vote, but the assembly did not. See State of Wis. Assembly J., Sept. 14, 2023, at 287.21

As a result, Item Veto A-1 authorizes school districts to increase revenue by \$325 per pupil each year for 400 additional years—without voters' approval via referendum.

III. A retired art professor and a substitute teacher challenge Item Veto A-1.

Jeffery A. LeMieux and David T. DeValk—a retired art professor and a substitute teacher—filed a petition for an original action on April 15, 2024, alleging that Item Veto A-1 violates Article V, § 10(1)(b) and (c) of the Wisconsin Constitution. This Court granted that petition on June 17, 2024.

<u>df</u>.

¹⁷ https://docs.legis.wisconsin.gov/2023/related/acts/19.pdf.

¹⁸ https://docs.legis.wisconsin.gov/2023/related/veto_messages/2023_wisconsin act_19.pdf. See also State of Wis. Senate J., July 5, https://docs.legis.wisconsin.gov/2023/related/journals/senate/20230705.pdf.

¹⁹ https://docs.legis.wisconsin.gov/2023/related/journals/senate/20230705.pdf.

²⁰ https://docs.legis.wisconsin.gov/2023/related/journals/senate/20230914.pdf.

²¹ https://docs.legis.wisconsin.gov/2023/related/journals/assembly/20230914.p

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

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