Brief of Respondent

Filed 09-03-2024

FILED 09-03-2024 CLERK OF WISCONSIN SUPREME COURT

STATE OF WISCONSIN IN SUPREME COURT

Case No. 2024AP0729-OA

JEFFERY A. LEMIEUX and DAVID T. DEVALK,

Petitioners,

v.

TONY EVERS, Governor of Wisconsin, SARAH GODLEWSKI, Secretary of State of Wisconsin and JILL UNDERLY, Wisconsin State Superintendent of Public Instruction,

Respondents.

ORIGINAL ACTION

RESPONDENTS' BRIEF

JOSHUA L. KAUL Attorney General of Wisconsin

COLIN T. ROTH Assistant Attorney General State Bar #1103985

CHARLOTTE GIBSON Assistant Attorney General State Bar #1038845

Attorneys for Respondents

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

ARGUMENT

I. The Governor approved the budget bill in "part," and so the vetoes at issue comply with article V, § 10(1)(b).

Article V, § 10(1)(b) provides that "appropriation bills may be approved in whole or in part by the governor, and the part approved shall become law."

Under this Court's long-standing precedent—which Petitioners do not challenge—that provision merely requires

Case 2024AP000729 Brief of Respondent Filed 09-03-2024 Page 14 of 52

the Governor's vetoes to leave behind a complete and workable law. The partial vetoes at issue undeniably yield such a law, and so they are valid. Petitioners' contrary theory rests on logic that applies only to "write-in" vetoes, not also vetoes (like the ones here) that simply delete text.

A. The controlling test is whether a partial veto leaves behind a complete and workable law.

This Court has long interpreted "part"—the key term in article V, § 10(1)(b)—very broadly. In its first partial veto decision, it turned to Webster's New International Dictionary to define the term as:

One of the portions, equal or unequal, into which anything is divided, or regarded as divided; something less than a whole; a number, quantity, mass, or the like, regarded as going to make up, with others or another, a large number, quantity, mass, etc., whether actually separate or not; a piece, fragment, fraction, member or constituent.

State ex rel. Wis. Telephone Co. v. Henry, 218 Wis. 302, 313, 260. N.W. 486 (1935) (quoting Part, Webster's New International Dictionary (2d ed. (1934)). The Court used this expansive definition to demarcate "what constitutes a 'part' of an appropriation bill, and is therefore subject to a partial veto." *Id*.

To operationalize that broad definition of "part," the Court quickly settled on a "complete and workable law" standard. In the next partial veto case, *State ex rel. Martin v. Zimmerman*, this Court framed the question as "whether the approved parts, taken as a whole, provide a complete workable law." 233 Wis. 442, 289 N.W. 662 (1940). Since

Zimmerman, the Court has reiterated this same basic test time and again.⁶

To be sure, the complete and workable law test recently came under attack in Bartlett. The challengers there argued that Henry erred by adopting an "overly broad definition of 'part." Bartlett, 393 Wis. 2d 172, ¶ 65 (Roggensack, C.J., concurring in part). A smorgasbord of alternative (and more restrictive) approaches was offered, $see\ id$., but none garnered four votes. Instead, the court issued a short per curiam decision accompanied by four separate writings, none of which were joined by more than two justices. The per curiam decision invalidated several partial vetoes but noted that "[n]o rationale has the support of a majority." Id. ¶ 4.

Where "separate opinions give . . . distinct reasons for the result," none with majority support, "none of the opinions . . . has any precedential value." *Doe v. Archdiocese of Milwaukee*, 211 Wis. 2d 312, 334 n.11, 565 N.W.2d 94

⁶ See State ex rel. Sundby v. Adamany, 71 Wis. 2d 118, 130, 237 N.W.2d 910 (1976) ("[T]he partial veto power may be utilized to veto any portion of a bill . . . as long as the portion vetoed is separable and the remaining provisions constitute a complete and workable law."); State ex rel. Kleczka v. Conta, 82 Wis. 2d 679, 707, 264 N.W.2d 539 (1978) ("[T]he test of severability has clearly and repeatedly been stated by this court to be simply that what remains be a complete and workable law."); State ex rel. Wis. Senate v. Thompson, 144 Wis. 2d 429, 451, 424 N.W.2d 385 (1988) ("[T]he limitation on the exercise of the governor's partial veto authority is that what remains after the veto must be a complete and workable law."); Citizens Util. Bd. v. Klauser, 194 Wis. 2d 484, 504–05, 534 N.W.2d 608 (1995) ("[T]his court must be satisfied that the partial veto has the effect of leaving intact a law that is complete, entire, and workable."); Risser v. Klauser, 207 Wis. 2d 176, 183, 558 N.W.2d 108 (1997) ("[T]he partial veto must be exercised in such a manner that the part of the bill remaining constitutes a 'complete, entire, and workable law." (citation omitted)).

(1997).⁷ Bartlett therefore is not precedent—indeed, Petitioners do not argue otherwise. Because Bartlett has no precedential value, the long-standing complete-and-workable-law test still applies today.⁸

B. Petitioners do not dispute that the partial vetoes at issue leave behind a complete and workable law.

The partial vetoes challenged here undoubtedly leave behind a "complete, entire, and workable law." *Risser*, 207 Wis. 2d at 183 (citation omitted). Petitioners tacitly concede as much by never arguing otherwise.

Nor could they. As Petitioners themselves explain, before the partial veto, the budget bill would have "approved a two-year increase of the school-district revenue limit." (Pet. Br. 9.) After, the increase will "last through the year 2425." (Pet. Br. 9.) There is plainly nothing unworkable or incomplete about "add[ing] 400 years to [a] two-year increase" (Pet. Br. 9), as shown further by Petitioners' comparison of the pre- and post-veto statutory language (Pet. Br. 16–17).

Because the challenged partial vetoes leave behind a complete and workable law, they complied with article V, $\S~10(1)(b)$.

⁷ See also State v. Elam, 195 Wis. 2d 683, 685, 538 N.W.2d 249 (1995) (per curiam) ("[A] majority of the participating judges must have agreed on a particular point for it to be considered the opinion of the court.").

⁸ While this Court has sometimes tried to extract precedential rules from fractured decisions by the U.S. Supreme Court using the approach outlined in *Marks v. United States*, 430 U.S. 188, 193 (1977), it "has never applied the *Marks* Rule to interpret its own precedent, but only to interpret federal precedent." *Johnson v. Wis. Elections Comm'n*, 2022 WI 14, ¶ 243, 400 Wis. 2d 626, 971 N.W.2d 402 (R. Bradley, J., dissenting).

C. The unique logic that *C.U.B.* used to justify "write-in" vetoes is irrelevant to vetoes that merely delete text, like those here.

Rather than contest the complete and workable law standard, Petitioners suggest that it is somehow "separate from the threshold question of whether a veto approved 'part' of a bill 'so as to fall within the purview of powers authorized by Art. V., sec. 10(1)(b)." (Pet. Br. 22 n.22 (citing C.U.B., 194 Wis. 2d at 505).) In other words, Petitioners argue that the Court should use some other test here to determine compliance with article V, § 10(1)(b).

That suggestion misreads this Court's partial veto cases. The complete and workable law standard is precisely how this Court has long operationalized article V, § 10(1)(b)—there is no other "test." For instance, *Thompson* summarized the provision as such: "[T]he governor may, in the exercise of his partial veto authority over appropriation bills, veto individual words, letters and digits, and also may reduce appropriations by striking digits, as long as what remains after veto is a complete, entire, and workable law." Thompson, 144 Wis. 2d at 437 (emphasis added). To be sure, a subsequent constitutional amendment ratcheted back *Thompson* a bit, but the basic analytical approach still controls: when a partial veto deletes text, the test under article V, § 10(1)(b) is whether a complete and workable law remains.

In Petitioners' view, a different test applies when dealing with numerals. There, a Governor supposedly approves a bill in "part" only when a new, post-veto numeral can be characterized as "less than" the pre-veto numeral. (Pet. Br. 21.)

Petitioners misunderstand article V, § 10(1)(b). When the Governor deletes digits from an appropriation bill whether from dates, appropriation figures, or any other numerals—what remains of the appropriation bill is "something less than a whole" and "a piece, fragment, fraction, member, or constituent" of the original. *Thompson*, 144 Wis. 2d at 440. So, the Governor approves "part" of the appropriation bill, in compliance with article V, § 10(1)(b), by deleting individual digits.

To be sure, *C.U.B.* used Petitioners' proposed "less than" logic to justify the unique "write-in" vetoes that the Court addressed for the first time there. In the 1993 budget bill, Governor Thompson had changed a \$350,000 figure to \$250,000 by replacing the leading digit "3" with a "2" that did not exist in the original bill. *C.U.B.*, 194 Wis. 2d at 489.

That "write-in" presented a twist on prior cases. Everyone agreed that the Governor could have "stri[cken] any or all of the digits in '\$350,000." *Id.* at 503. He could have deleted the digit "3," for instance, because doing so would have left behind a complete and workable law. But because the Governor did not merely delete "3" and instead "wr[ote] in a smaller number"—"2"—that new method of altering the original bill's text presented an "issue of first impression" that required a "logical extension" of prior cases. *Id* at 502.

To accomplish that "logical extension," *C.U.B.* pointed to a distinct aspect of the "part" definition from *Henry*: that a "part" also can be "something less than a whole; a number, quantity, mass, or the like, regarded as going to make up, with others or another, a larger number, quantity, mass, etc." *Id.* at 505. That unique aspect of the "part" definition validated the challenged write-in veto: "\$250,000 is 'part' of \$350,000, because \$250,000 is 'something less than' \$350,000, and \$250,000 goes 'to make up, with others ... a larger number,' i.e., \$350,000." *Id.* at 505–507.

While *C.U.B.* needed this new "less than" logic to validate the new write-in veto, that special logic is unnecessary and inapplicable when analyzing traditional deletion vetoes. Again, *C.U.B.* observed how prior cases' logic would have justified an ordinary deletion veto "striking any or all of the digits in '\$350,000." 194 Wis. 2d at 503. When the

Governor merely deletes text (including digits), what remains satisfies article V, § 10(1)(b) because the remnant is a "piece, fragment, fraction, member, or constituent"—in other words, a "part"—of the original bill. *Henry*, 218 Wis. at 313. For such deletions, it is irrelevant whether the remaining text is "less than" the original text, because what survives is a "piece, fragment, fraction, member, or constituent" of the original. *Id*.

None of Petitioners' three reasons for extending *C.U.B.*'s unique "less than" logic from write-in vetoes to digit deletion vetoes is convincing.

First, Petitioners note that *Henry*'s definition of "part" (restated in *Thompson*) applies here. (Pet. Br. 22.) Of course it does, but that gets them nowhere. That definition contains four separate aspects:

- [1] One of the portions, equal or unequal, into which anything is divided, or regarded as divided;
- [2] something less than a whole;
- [3] a number, quantity, mass, or the like, regarded as going to make up, with others or another, a larger number, quantity, mass, etc., whether actually separate or not;
- [4] a piece, fragment, fraction, member or constituent. *Thompson*, 144 Wis. 2d at 440 (citation omitted).

Neither *Henry* (nor any other case) holds that partial vetoes must satisfy any particular one of these four "part" aspects. Rather, satisfying any of them suffices, and different ones apply to different kinds of partial vetoes. Deletion vetoes like the ones here satisfy at least aspects [2] and [4] of this definition (and arguably [1], too). So, the Governor approves a bill in "part" through a deletion veto, regardless of aspect [3] of the definition. Satisfying aspect [3] is only relevant when dealing with a write-in veto like in *C.U.B.*

Second, Petitioners contend that "[t]here is no legal or logical basis" for limiting *C.U.B.*'s analysis to write-in vetoes. (Pet. Br. 22.) Yet the reason for doing so is obvious: *C.U.B.* required a special logic to justify a special kind of partial veto.

Article V, § 10(1)(b) turns on whether the post-veto text is "part" of the original bill. When text is deleted, that is virtually always true. But when text is instead replaced, the question becomes harder because something new has been added to the original bill. Given this key difference between write-ins and deletions—new text in one but not the other—it is only natural that write-ins require a distinct analysis. And that is precisely what *C.U.B.* recognized by distinguishing between digit deletions—which prior "cases ma[d]e clear" were valid—and write-in vetoes, which presented an "issue of first impression" that required a "logical extension" of those prior cases. 194 Wis. 2d at 502–03.

Third, Petitioners observe that *C.U.B.* "applied only the quantitative aspects of the ['part'] definition from *Henry.*" (Pet. Br. 22.) True enough. But Petitioners then draw a puzzling non sequitur from this premise: that the "quantitative aspect" of the definition "applies when a governor strikes one or more digits in a *number.*" (Pet. Br. 22 (emphasis in original).) Petitioners may want that to be true, but they point to nothing in *C.U.B.* holding that it is. Again, *C.U.B.* relied on that "quantitative aspect" of the "part" definition because *C.U.B.* confronted a unique write-in veto. A simple digit deletion was permissible under a different aspect of that definition, as "the [prior] cases ma[d]e clear." *C.U.B.*, 194 Wis. 2d at 503.

In sum, nothing in *C.U.B.* justifies extending its "less than" logic beyond write-in vetoes to digit deletion vetoes like the ones here.

* * *

Because it is uncontested that the partial vetoes at issue leave behind a "complete, entire, and workable law," *Risser*, 207 Wis. 2d at 183, they comply with article V, § 10(1)(b).

II. Article V, § 10(1)(c) permits digit vetoes, as this Court's decisions uniformly confirm.

Article V, § 10(1)(c) provides that "[i]n approving an appropriation bill in part, the governor may not create a new word by rejecting individual letters in the words of the enrolled bill...."

The vetoes at issue comply with this provision because they deleted digits, not letters. In every partial veto case since *Kleczka*, Justices of this Court have consistently distinguished between "digit" and "letter" vetoes—including in the *Thompson* decision that the 1990 constitutional amendment was meant to partly reverse. And an alternative proposed amendment similarly distinguished between "letter" and "digit" vetoes. Because these two kinds of vetoes have always been treated as distinct, the term "letter" in article V, § 10(1)(c) cannot include digits, as Petitioners say.

Moreover, Petitioners' theory squarely conflicts with C.U.B., the first partial veto case decided after the 1990 amendment. C.U.B. explained how—even after the amendment—Governors can "decrease an appropriation by striking any or all of the digits in [a numeral like] '\$350,000." C.U.B., 194 Wis. 2d at 503 (citation omitted). Petitioners' interpretation of "letter" to include "digits" would bar digit vetoes like these, and so it must be wrong.

Because this Court's precedent and the amendment's history confirms the common-sense understanding that "digits" are not "letters," Petitioners' challenge under article V, § 10(1)(c) also fails.

A. Article V, § 10(1)(c) is interpreted against the backdrop of this Court's partial veto cases.

Petitioners' first argument under article V, § 10(1)(b) does not ask the Court to adopt a novel interpretation of that provision. But Petitioners do ask the Court to reverse course by reinterpreting the phrase "may not create a new word by rejecting individual letters in the words of the enrolled bill" in article V, § 10(1)(c) to cover digit vetoes. A brief word on constitutional interpretation is therefore in order.

This Court employes a layered methodology to interpret constitutional provisions. Three types of analyses are relevant: "the plain meaning, the constitutional debates and practices of the time, and the earliest interpretations of the provision by the legislature, as manifested through the first legislative action following adoption." *Dairyland Greyhound Park, Inc. v. Doyle*, 2006 WI 107, ¶ 19, 295 Wis. 2d 1, 719 N.W.2d 408 (citation omitted).

Here, the analysis begins with the backdrop against which the people of Wisconsin enacted article V, § 10(1)(c): this Court's prior partial veto decisions, especially *Thompson*. This contextual analysis shows that Petitioners' reading of article V, § 10(1)(c) conflicts with the uniform understanding of the provision's framers, this Court, and the Governors who have applied it. Finally, the provision's wording—even considering Petitioners' isolated dictionary definitions—confirms that article V, § 10(1)(c) does not bar digit vetoes.

B. Thompson demonstrates that article V, § 10(1)(c)'s bar on "letter" vetoes does not extend to digits.

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